FILED
03-17-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal No. 2022AP1929-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS.-

#### REYNALDO ROSALEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from the May 24, 2019, Judgment of Conviction as well as the November 7, 2022, order denying Rosalez's motion for postconviction relief, filed in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Glenn H. Yamahiro, presiding.

Milwaukee County Case no. 2018CF3441

#### **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

Respectfully submitted by:

Matthew S. Pinix, 1064368 Joseph S. Riepenhoff, SBN 1086537

Statement of the Issue
Statement on Oral Argument and Publication
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument10
Argument
I. Due to his amnesia surrounding the offense, Rosalez was entitled to an established procedure by which to ensure that he received a fair trial10
A. The law governing amnesia and the constitutional right to a fair trial10
B. Rosalez proved that he is amnestic12
B. The postconviction court erred in concluding that Rosalez did not prove himself amnestic14
II. When he pleaded no contest, Rosalez did not know he could challenge his right to a fair trial under <i>McIntosh</i> because his trial counsel never told him. If he had known differently, he would not have pleaded no contest. Rosalez should thus be allowed to withdraw his plea because of his counsel's ineffectiveness.
A. Rosalez's attorney was deficient in failing to advise him of the <i>McIntosh</i> rule and its applicability to his case
B. Rosalez would not have pleaded no contest and instead gone to trial if he had known about the McIntosh rule.
Conclusion22
Rule 809.19(8g)(a) Certification
Rule 809.19(8g)(b) Certification Of Appendix Content

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 3 of 24

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **Cases**

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973) 10
DeBartolo v. United States, 790 F.3d 775 (CA7 2015)2
Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985)16, 17, 20
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979) 10
Lee v. United States, 582 U.S, 137 S. Ct. 1958 (2017)20, 21, 22
Muench v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 386, 210 N.W.2d 716 (Wis. 1973)12
Roe v. Flores–Ortega, 528 U.S. 470 (2000)20
Schimmel v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 287, 267 N.W.2d 271 (Wis. 1978)12
State v. Hanson, 2012 WI 4, 338 Wis. 2d 243, 808 N.W.2d 390 10
State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 78617
State v. King, 187 Wis. 2d 548, 523 N.W.2d 159 (Ct. App 1994)1
State v. Leach, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 370 N.W.2d 240 (Wis. 1985)12
State v. McIntosh, 137 Wis. 2d 339, 404 N.W.2d 557 (Ct. App. 1987) passim
State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, 264 Wis.2d 595, 665 N.W.2d 305
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)16, 19
Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000)17
Wilson v. United States, 391 F.2d 460 (D.C. CiR.1968)
<u>Statutes</u>
Bernice A. Marcolpulos, Laysa Hedjar, & Beth C. Arredondo, <i>Dissociative Amnesia or Malingered Amnesia? A Case Report</i> , 16 J. Forensic Psych. Practice 106 (MaR.30, 2016)
/

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 4 of 24

#### **Treatises**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the postconviction court erred in denying Rosalez's request to withdraw his plea when his trial counsel did not inform him of the protections under *State v. McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d 339, 404 N.W.2d 557 (Ct. App. 1987), he was amnestic regarding the incident that gave rise to the charges, and he would not have entered a plea if he had been informed of the *McIntosh* procedure?

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Rosalez would welcome oral argument if of interest to the panel. The parties argued several issues before the circuit court and the court obviously struggled with applying *State v. McIntosh* and Rosalez's entitlement to its dictates. Relatedly, publication is appropriate to advance the law regarding an amnestic defendant's due process rights.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Reynaldo Rosalez has no memory of the events that currently imprison him. (See R.18:4.) That is not to say that he does not know why he is imprisoned; he is fully aware that he pleaded no contest to sexual assault of child. (R.36:12; R.15.) But,

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 5 of 24

Rosalez does not remember anything about the time period during which the assault is said to have occurred. (*See* R.18:4.) In fact, he has absolutely no memory of then interacting with or sexually assaulting the victim, as she described. (*Id.*) That absence of memory is not a novel condition. (R.96:9; A-Ap 13.) Instead, it has persisted since the night on which the victim said the assault occurred. (*Id.*:44-45; A-Ap 48-49.)

Rosalez told his trial counsel during pretrial litigation that he had no memory of the event. (See R.36:3-4.) The matter of Rosalez's absent memory was discussed on the record at his plea hearing as the basis for the State allowing him to plead no contest. (Id.) He told the PSI writer that he had no memory of the event. (R.18:4.) And then, when he spoke at sentencing, he reiterated he "would never have consciously harmed" the victim and "first found out . . . about the details" of the allegations when he was being charged. (R.49:32-33.) He told the court that he simply had no "explanation as to what happened that night." (Id.:32.) According to trial counsel, Rosalez did not want to "attack[] the credibility" of the victim or her mother "from the beginning," and thus he did not "deny these events" occurred. (Id.:26.) He pleaded no contest not because he remembered and knew that he had harmed the victim, but rather because he accepted as true what the victim said. (See id.)

Relatedly, if Rosalez had gone to trial, he would have been little help to his defense. In the pretrial stages, he could not have guided his attorney to defensive facts—he doesn't remember anything about the incident. (R.18:4.) What Rosalez does remember about that night is that he took his Ambien, drank some alcohol, and was Skyping with his daughter when his memory goes blank. (*Id.*) The next thing he remembers is waking the next day in his own bed. (*See id.*) At trial, his testimony—if he had given it—would have by necessity consisted almost entirely of a single, repetitive answer: "I don't remember." (See R.119:55-56; A-Ap 59-60.) He could not testify to what he was thinking or doing during the alleged assaults. (*Id.*) He could not proffer any exculpatory explanation of his alleged interactions with the victim. (*Id.*) And, quite frankly, he could offer no meaningful answer to "Did you do it?" The best he could have offered in response is "I don't remember doing it," which is by no means exculpating. (*Id.*)

Despite Rosalez's amnesia and his trial counsel's apparent awareness of it, his trial counsel never discussed with him the possibility of filing a motion protesting

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 6 of 24

that his amnesia would deny his right to a fair trial. (R.96:16; Ap 20); see also State v. McIntosh, 137 Wis. 2d 339, 404 N.W.2d 557 (1987) (leading case on subject). Indeed, when Rosalez pleaded no contest, he did not know that Wisconsin recognizes that an amnestic defendant may, by virtue of that amnesia, be unable to be fairly tried. *Id.* at 349-50. (R.96:46-48; A-Ap 50-52.)

If Rosalez's trial counsel had hired an expert to develop facts relevant to a *McIntosh* claim, he would have learned that Rosalez shows no sign of malingering in his assertion that he cannot remember the night in question. (R.62:11.) On multiple instruments purposed on discerning whether a person is being untruthful in reporting mental health issues, Rosalez's score demonstrates that he is not faking his loss of memory. (*Id.*:8-10.)

Postconviction, Rosalez hired Dr. James Freiburger, a forensic psychologist with a doctorate in clinical psychology and over twenty-six years of experience in the field to assess his claim of amnesia. In his report, Dr. Freiburger explained,

Malingering was not found in the instruments as described, and feigning, exaggerating, minimizing, and mis-representing symptoms were not indicated. Subject's presentation was consistent with an individual who is responding in an honest and a self disclosing manner. More specifically, subject was consistent in his responses regarding overall functioning and regarding functioning the night of the incidents in question.

His responses and scores suggest that he is relatively honest and self disclosing with mental health professionals. He was found to be forthcoming both in the instruments and during clinical interviews. To a reasonable degree of psychological certainty, given the totality of the information, clinical malingering indicators or evidence that would call into question the veracity or consistency of his self report regarding amnesia the night of the incidents in question were not found.

(*Id.*:11.) With Dr. Freiburger's report in hand pretrial, Rosalez, could have filed a motion averring an inability to be fairly tried. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 349-50. As will be more fully discussed below, *McIntosh*'s procedure is to await the conclusion of trial before deciding whether the defendant was fairly tried. *Id.* at 349. If a fair trial proves impossible because of the defendant's amnesia a case may be dismissed. *Id.* at 350.

But Rosalez knew nothing of *McIntosh*'s rule because his attorney failed to advise him about it. (R.96:16; A-Ap 20.) However, if trial counsel had informed Rosalez that a pretrial motion concerning his right to a fair trial was possible, Rosalez would

not have pleaded no contest. (R.96:47-48; A-Ap 51-52.) Instead, he would have filed the *McIntosh* motion and taken his case to trial with the specific purpose of establishing that his amnesia meant he could not be fairly tried. (Id.)

Postconviction, Rosalez filed a motion to withdraw his plea. (R.61.) He argued that it was the result of his counsel's ineffectiveness, insofar as his counsel had not explained the *McIntosh* rule to him. (Id.:11-17.)

On June 9, 2022, the circuit court held a *Machner* hearing to address the issues raised in Rosalez's postconviction motion. (See R.96; A-Ap at 5.) Rosalez's trial attorney admitted during his testimony that he "never was exploring whether there was a defense based upon [Rosalez's] amnesia." (R.96:25; A-Ap 29.) Defense counsel further admitted that he never discussed *McIntosh* or its rule with Rosalez:

- Q Am I understanding you correctly that when Mr. Rosalez was entering his plea he did not at least from the conversations you had with him, he did not understand that he could make a pretrial motion raising his amnesia and then go to trial, and if he lost, raise that issue at that time?
- A I never had that discussion with him. It was not something that I talked discussed with him.

(R.96:16; A-Ap 20.)

In his own testimony, Rosalez confirmed that trial counsel never made him aware of *McIntosh* or the possibility of going to trial to ultimately avoid a conviction:

- Q Do you understand what the McIntosh case refers to?
- A I do somewhat, yes.
- Q When is the first time that you heard about that?
- A When I talked with [appellate counsel] about it.
- Q And did [trial counsel] ever bring that up to you?
- A No.
- Q When you entered your plea, Mr. Rosalez, did you know that you had the ability to go to trial and later contest its fairness based on your amnesia?
- A No, I did not.
- Q Do you understand that that may have been a possibility now?
- A I understand it now, yes.

(R.96:46-48; A-Ap 50-52.)

Rosalez also testified that he would not have taken a plea if he had known about *McIntosh*:

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 8 of 24

- Q ... Would you have entered your plea if you had known about the McIntosh rule?
- A No, I would not.
- Q Can you explain why not?
- A Well, I would of taken it to trial. I only knew what [trial counsel] was telling me. I didn't know that I had -- that there were other options out there as far as with my case.
- Q Mr. Rosalez, would you prefer not to be convicted of this charge?
- A Yes, I would.
- Q And if a successful *McIntosh* defense had been presented, do you understand that you possibly could avoid conviction for this case?
- A Yes, I do now.
- Q Would you have -- how would that have impacted your decision whether to go to trial or not?
- A If I would of known?
- Q Yes.
- A I would of gone to trial, yeah.

#### (R.96:47-48; A-Ap 51-52.)

Dr. Freiburger also testified at the postconviction hearing. Consistent with his report, he explained that Rosalez shows no evidence of malingering in is assertion that he is amnestic. (R.96:30; A-Ap 34.) Dr. Freiburger further explained that there is no "single medical test that can be run on a person to determine whether they are, in fact, amnestic." (*Id*.:30; A-Ap 34.) However, Dr. Freiburger testified that the tests he ran on Rosalez are "recognized in [his] field as the sort of tests that would help to assess whether a person is or is not amnestic." (*Id*.:31; A-Ap 35.) According to Dr. Freiburger's assessment of those tests in Rosalez's case, as well as the other ancillary material he consulted, he said to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty that Rosalez is not falsely reporting his inability to remember the events in question. (R.62:11.)

In addition to Dr. Freiburger's report and testimony, Rosalez presented documentation from Ambien's manufacturer detailing that memory loss is a significantly occurring side effect of the medication. (R.107, R.108.) Ambien's manufacturer explains:

Complex sleep behaviors, including sleep-walking, sleep-driving, and engaging in other activities while not fully awake, may occur following the first *or any subsequent use* of AMBIEN. Patients can be seriously injured or injure others during complex sleep behaviors. Such injuries may result in a fatal outcome. Other complex sleep behaviors (e.g., preparing and eating food, making phone calls, or having sex) have also been reported. *Patients usually do not remember these events*. Postmarketing reports have shown that *complex sleep behaviors may occur with AMBIEN alone at* 

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 9 of 24

recommended doses, with or without the concomitant use of alcohol or other central nervous system (CNS) depressants . . .

(R.107:4 section 5.1 (emphasis added).) In other words, Ambien's manufacturer warns its users that taking Ambien may cause them to forget having done any number of things from cooking to having sex. (*Id.*) And, the manufacturer warns that amnesia can occur regardless of whether the user drank alcohol when taking their prescribed Ambien. (*Id.*) Furthermore, such memory loss could occur the first time or it could occur upon "any subsequent use." (*Id.* (emphasis added).)

The State proffered no evidence that Rosalez has before remembered the events but was now feigning to have forgotten them. And, the State called no expert to contest Dr. Freiburger's conclusion, nor did it offer any evidence—expert testimony or otherwise—disputing the proposition that Ambien can cause memory loss. (See R.96; A-Ap 5-71.) To the contrary, the State stipulated at the hearing to the admission of the documentary evidence that Rosalez had presented from Ambien's manufacturer.

In its decision, the circuit court stated "it is important to compare the facts in [Rosalez's] case with those of the leading case in this area with regard to amnesia, the *McIntosh* decision." (R.119:5; A-Ap 76.) In particular, the court focused on the fact that "the diagnosis [of amnesia] in the *McIntosh* case was not made by a psychologist. It was made by a psychiatrist." (*Id.*) The court went on to say that since Dr. Freiburger was not a "medical doctor" and did not affirmatively make a diagnosis of amnesia, "and also there have been numerous self-reports here that this was not a permanent condition of any sort, the Court believes it is necessary to look at the defendant, his testimony, his credibility, and any inconsistencies that have been made over the course of this case with regard to drug use, alcohol use, and the mixing thereof." (*Id.*:5-6; A-Ap 76-77.)

Ultimately the circuit court found that in "the absence of any diagnosis and—and I think, frankly, the statement that he did not dispute at sentencing where it was stated that he didn't know if he was unable to remember what happened or if that it was such a painful event he could not force himself to remember it seems to be a more likely scenario to the Court. I do not find any basis here to find that he suffers from amnesia." (*Id.*:8-9; A-Ap 79-70.) Based on not finding amnesia, the court denied the postconviction motion. (R.119:9; A-Ap 80.) It did not otherwise address the elements of Rosalez's ineffectiveness claim. (*See id.*) Rosalez appeals.

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 10 of 24

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rosalez seeks to withdraw his no contest plea. He claims entitlement to that relief because his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to inform him that, as a defendant amnestic of the charged incident, he could contest his ability to be fairly tried. Rosalez avers that his counsel's failure to so advise him was deficient because (1) Rosalez's amnesia was established by a clear preponderance of the evidence and (2) Rosalez was entitled to know about the *McIntosh* rule when deciding whether to plead or go to trial. Rosalez argues prejudice because he would not have pleaded no contest if trial counsel had rightly informed him about *McIntosh* and the impact of his amnesia on his right to a fair trial.

Rosalez offers the following in support.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Due to his amnesia surrounding the offense, Rosalez was entitled to an established procedure by which to ensure that he received a fair trial.
  - A. The law governing amnesia and the constitutional right to a fair trial.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee all defendants the right to due process. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 8. A fundamental component of due process is the defendant's opportunity to defend himself through the assistance of his counsel and the opportunity to present evidence. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 314 (1979), *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95 (1973), *State v. Hanson*, 2012 WI 4, ¶45, 338 Wis. 2d 243, 808 N.W.2d 390.

Wisconsin courts have before concluded that trying a criminal defendant who has amnesia can result in a violation of that defendant's right to due process. *State v. McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d 339, 348-49, 404 N.W.2d 557, 561-62 (1987). Our courts have explained that, when a defendant is suffering from amnesia, the ability to assist counsel or present evidence may be so undermined that trying the defendant would be a violation of due process. *Id.* 

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-17-2023 Page 11 of 24

Whether an amnestic defendant can receive a fair trial is subject to a multifactor analysis first adopted in *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 349. Our appellate court has identified the following factors as relevant when deciding whether a defendant's amnesia prevents a fair trial:

- (1) the extent to which the amnesia affected the defendant's ability to consult with and assist his lawyer;
- (2) the extent to which the amnesia affected the defendant's ability to testify in his own behalf;
- (3) the extent to which the evidence in suit could be extrinsically reconstructed in view of the defendant's amnesia;
- (4) the extent to which the State assisted the defendant and his counsel in that reconstruction;
- (5) the strength of the prosecution's case, including whether the State's case is such as to negate all reasonable hypotheses of innocence, and/or any substantial possibility that the accused could, but for his amnesia, establish a defense; it should be presumed that he would have been able to do so; and
- (6) any other facts and circumstances which would indicate whether or not the defendant had a fair trial.

McIntosh, 137 Wis. 2d at 349-50 (citing Wilson v. United States, 391 F.2d 460 (D.C. CiR.1968))

The impact of amnesia on a defendant's due process rights is a unique issue in the law where courts have considered pretrial objections after the trial concludes. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 349, *State v. King*, 187 Wis. 2d 548, 558, 523 N.W.2d 159 (Ct. App 1994). In the prior cases to have considered the issue, the defendant brought a pretrial motion protesting amnesia as an impediment to a fair trial. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 346, *King*, 187 Wis. 2d at 556. However, the circuit court in each case postponed a decision on the motion until after the trial. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d 346-47, *King*, 187 Wis. 2d at 557. And, in each case, the reviewing court noted that what occurred at trial was relevant deciding whether the defendant was fairly tried. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 351, *King*, 187 Wis. 2d at 558.

Importantly, the seminal Wisconsin case dealing with an amnestic defendant's right to receive a fair trial recognized that, "in many cases," assessing what occurred at trial is a key part of the analysis. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 349. Indeed, the *McIntosh* factors require consideration of things like "the strength of the prosecution's case" and "facts and circumstances which would indicate whether or not the defendant had a fair trial." *Id.* at 349-50. By their very nature, the weight of

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