FILED 05-02-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2022AP1929 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

REYNALDO ROSALEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH R. WALL, PRESIDING, AND FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE GLENN H. YAMAHIRO, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The postconviction court properly denied Rosalez's motion to withdraw his plea because he did not establish that his trial counsel had been ineffective.

"A defendant seeking to withdraw a plea after sentencing must show by clear and convincing evidence that 'allowing the withdrawal of the plea "is necessary to correct a manifest injustice."" Savage, 395 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 24 (citations omitted). "One way to demonstrate manifest injustice is to establish that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." Id. ¶ 25 (citation omitted).

To establish ineffectiveness of counsel, a defendant must prove both (1) "that counsel's performance was deficient" and (2) "that the deficiency prejudiced the defense." Carter, 324 Wis. 2d 640, ¶ 21 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). The defendant's failure on one prong dooms the entire claim. Savage, 395 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 25.

The postconviction court did not clearly err by finding that Rosalez failed to prove his amnesia. Although the postconviction court deemed that finding dispositive of Rosalez's claim without addressing the ineffectiveness inquiry, it compels the conclusion that Rosalez failed to prove deficient performance. His trial counsel could not have performed deficiently by declining to discuss McIntosh when Rosalez would not have been eligible to raise a McIntosh claim.

In addition, the postconviction court had two other grounds on which to reject Rosalez's ineffectiveness claim. A *McIntosh* claim would have failed on the merits, and Rosalez failed to prove prejudice.

A. Trial counsel did not perform deficiently by declining to discuss *McIntosh* with Rosalez because Rosalez did not prove his amnesia and the claim would have failed.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show "that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed . . . by the Sixth Amendment." Savage, 395 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 28 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). Courts strongly presume that counsel acted within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Carter, 324 Wis. 640, ¶ 22 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). Reviewing courts must make "every effort . . . to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Id.* (alteration in original) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). "Counsel does not render deficient performance for failing to bring a . . . motion that would have been denied." State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 37, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583.

Rosalez alleges that trial counsel performed deficiently by not informing him of McIntosh. In McIntosh, this Court addressed a defendant's claim that his amnesia regarding the fatal car crash for which he was being tried denied him a fair trial because he could not offer his own recollection of the crash. 137 Wis. 2d at 346–47. McIntosh held that "where it is established that an otherwise competent defendant is suffering from amnesia or other memory disorder that might implicate his or her right to a fair trial, the court may, in its discretion, permit the trial to continue." Id. at 351. "At the trial's conclusion and on motion of the defendant, the [circuit] court should then . . . determine whether, in light of the defendant's disability, he or she nonetheless received a fair trial." Id. at 347.

Rosalez contends that *McIntosh* presented him with a viable defense and that trial counsel's failure to address it with him lacked a reasonable basis. (Rosalez's Br. 17–19.) Had Rosalez known of it, he would have gone to trial, raised the defense prior to trial, and then moved to have a guilty verdict set aside as the product of a trial that his amnesia rendered unfair. (Rosalez's Br. 19–22.)

Rosalez failed to prove deficient performance for two reasons. First, the postconviction court did not clearly err by finding that Rosalez failed to prove that he suffers from amnesia. Therefore, trial counsel's decision not to discuss McIntosh with Rosalez was not deficient because Rosalez could not have raised a McIntosh claim. Second, even assuming Rosalez proved his amnesia, a McIntosh claim would have failed on the merits.

1. Because Rosalez failed to prove his amnesia, he could not raise a *McIntosh* claim.

A defendant can raise a *McIntosh* claim only if the defendant's "permanent amnesia has been medically established." *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 348. A defendant bears the burden of establishing amnesia "by a clear preponderance of the credible evidence." *Muench v. State*, 60 Wis. 2d 386, 392–93, 210 N.W.2d 716 (1973), *overruled on other grounds by Schimmel v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 287, 267 N.W.2d 271 (1978), *overruled by Steele v. State*, 97 Wis. 2d 72, 294 N.W.2d 2 (1980).²

² In an unrelated issue, *Muench* applied the rule that a defendant could submit psychiatric evidence purporting to show he lacked the mental ability to form the requisite *mens rea* only if he pleaded not guilty by reason of insanity. *Muench*, 60 Wis. 2d at 395–96. The Wisconsin Supreme Court dissolved that restriction in *Schimmel*, 84 Wis. 2d at 298, 302. However, the Court overruled *Schimmel* and restored the original *Muench* rule in *Steele*, 97 (continued on next page)

14

To begin, Rosalez misunderstands what a "clear preponderance" of the evidence requires. He asserts that he had to show only "that it is more likely than not that he is amnestic." (Rosalez's Br. 12.) In other words, he contends that the ordinary preponderance of the evidence standard of proof applies to his claim of amnesia. *See Matter of R.I.B.*, 2023 WI App 9, ¶ 25, 406 Wis. 2d 170, 986 N.W.2d 325 (alteration in original) (citation omitted) ("[P]reponderance of the evidence' means 'more likely than not.").

Rosalez burden. Α "clear understates his preponderance" refers to the "middle burden of proof" that is more stringent than the preponderance of the evidence standard but less demanding than the criminal beyond a reasonable doubt standard. Kruse v. Horlamus Indus., Inc., 130 Wis. 2d 357, 363, 387 N.W.2d 64 (1986). Today, courts call this "middle" standard the "clear and convincing evidence" standard of proof. See Matter of Visitation of A. A. L., 2019 WI 57, ¶ 34, 387 Wis. 2d 1, 927 N.W.2d 486. The elevated standard of proof reflects the fact that "[t]he claim of amnesia is one easily fabricated after the event by one seeking to avoid responsibility for his acts." Muench, 60 Wis. 2d at 392. Thus, Rosalez had to prove his amnesia by clear and convincing evidence.

Rosalez next unreasonably reads *McIntosh* as identifying three highly specific conditions that are both necessary and sufficient to prove amnesia. (Rosalez's Br. 12, 14.) But the paragraph Rosalez cites merely highlighted the three most salient conclusions from McIntosh's psychiatrist. *McIntosh*, 137 Wis. 2d at 346. *McIntosh* did not purport to create a test for proving amnesia, let alone one reduced to three criteria. Indeed, it had no need to formulate a test because it was *undisputed* that the defendant in that case had

Wis. 2d at 76. These cases did not affect the standard of proof that applies to claims of amnesia.

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-02-2023 Page 16 of 29

amnesia. *Id.* at 347. And *McIntosh* simply cited *Muench* as an example of a case in which the parties disputed amnesia—and the court found the defense evidence insufficient. *Id. Muench* reveals that the question of amnesia presents a fact-intensive, case-specific inquiry that cannot be distilled into three conditions. *Muench*, 60 Wis. 2d at 392–93 (reviewing the evidence of amnesia in its totality without referring to a formalized inquiry).

McIntosh, drawing from Muench, does make clear that a defendant's amnesia must be "medically established." 137 Wis. 2d at 348; see Muench, 60 Wis. 2d at 392 (rejecting defendant's claim of amnesia because "[t]here [was] no medical evidence" supporting it). In McIntosh, a psychiatrist had concluded that the defendant's amnesia "was consistent with his injuries" to his head that he sustained in the car crash and that "there was 'no reason to doubt the permanence of a significant part of [his] memory loss." 137 Wis. 2d at 346. Similarly in another case arising from a fatal car crash, a psychiatrist testified that the defendant "did suffer from amnesia probably due to the concussion caused by the accident." State v. King, 187 Wis. 2d 548, 556, 523 N.W.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1994).

Rosalez attempted to prove his amnesia by demonstrating that he was truthfully self-reporting his lack of memory. He testified that he had no memory of the sexual assault. (R. 96:44–45.) His psychologist concluded that he was not misrepresenting his lack of memory. (R. 96:30.) Rosalez cited the manufacturer warnings from Ambien to show that his testimony was consistent with the drug's listed side effects. (R. 96:61–63.)

Yet none of this evidence constituted medical evidence. Unlike the defendants in *McIntosh* and *King*, no doctor ever diagnosed Rosalez with amnesia. (R. 96:38.) The psychologist specifically denied making an amnesia diagnosis (R. 96:38), and the postconviction court correctly noted that a

psychologist was not a trained doctor like a psychiatrist. (R. 119:5.) The only direct evidence of Rosalez's amnesia came from Rosalez himself, and he had a motive to "fabricat[e]" his amnesia "to avoid responsibility for his acts." *Muench*, 60 Wis. 2d at 392. The postconviction court reasonably found that Rosalez's self-serving testimony, even when supported by extrinsic markers of its truthfulness, did not "medically establish" his amnesia by clear and convincing evidence. *See id*. ("There is no medical evidence of anything else in the record, except the subjective statements of the defendant and the observations and hearsay testimony of his associate . . . to indicate any loss of memory.").

Although unpublished, this Court's opinion in *State v*. Herling, No. 2014AP565-CR, 2014 WL 7178355 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 18, 2014) (unpublished) (R-App. 3–5) provides persuasive support³ for the circuit court's finding because of its factual similarities. There, the defendant claimed amnesia and attributed it to the alcohol and Xanax he consumed shortly before blacking out. Id. ¶ 3. A psychologist testified that he found the defendant's reported lack of memory credible. *Id.* ¶ 5. The circuit court deemed this evidence insufficient of proving amnesia because the psychologist was "not qualified to provide the necessary medical testimony." Id. The defendant did not even argue that this evidence satisfied the clear and convincing standard. *Id.* ¶ 6. He contended only that the preponderance of the evidence standard applied, which failed in light of *Muench*. *Id*. ¶¶ 6, 9. It was thus undisputed that the defendant's self-reported testimony combined with a psychologist's conclusion of no malingering did not present clear and convincing evidence of amnesia.

³ Unpublished opinions issued on or after July 1, 2009, that are authored by a member of a three-judge panel may be cited for their persuasive value. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b).

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-02-2023 Page 18 of 29

On appeal, Rosalez mischaracterizes the postconviction court's finding as being predicated on the fact that his expert witness was a psychologist instead of a psychiatrist. (Rosalez's Br. 14–15.) True, the postconviction court contrasted Rosalez's evidence with the psychiatrist's formal diagnosis of amnesia in *McIntosh* to illustrate Rosalez's lack of medical evidence. (R. 119:5–6.). But its finding rested on that dearth of medical evidence, not the credentials of Rosalez's expert. On that basis alone, the postconviction court reasonably found that Rosalez failed to prove his amnesia.

Moreover, even if Rosalez's own testimony constituted medical evidence, it would still be insufficient because the postconviction court found that his inconsistencies made him not credible. Rosalez testified at the hearing that Ambien had previously caused him to black out, but that testimony contradicted his representation at sentencing that he had never before blacked out while on Ambien. (R. 49:25–26; 96:55–56.) Rosalez also initially testified that he only combined Ambien and alcohol once per month. (R. 96:57.) When confronted with his twin claims that he took Ambien nearly every night and drank two to three times per week, he admitted that he must combine the two substances two to three times per week—far more frequently than once per month. (R. 96:57–59; 119:7–8.)

A circuit court's credibility determination applies on appeal unless it is clearly erroneous. *Carter*, 324 Wis. 2d 640, ¶ 19. The postconviction court did not clearly err by finding Rosalez not credible due to material inconsistencies in his testimony about his history of blackouts and drinking while on Ambien. The psychologist's conclusion that Rosalez did not malinger in tests did not preclude the postconviction court from finding Rosalez not credible based on his inconsistencies and after observing his demeanor in court. *See State v. Perkins*, 2004 WI App 213, ¶ 15, 277 Wis. 2d 243, 689 N.W.2d

684. Absent his own testimony, Rosalez produced *no* evidence with which to prove his own amnesia.

Rosalez faults the postconviction court for basing its dispositive finding on its statement that "there have been numerous self-reports here that this was not a permanent condition of any sort." (Rosalez's Br. 15 (quoting R. 119:6).) That passage constitutes one part of a larger statement reproduced below:

Based upon the fact that there is, number one, no medical diagnosis for amnesia and also there have been numerous self-reports here that this was not a permanent condition of any sort, the Court believes it is necessary to look at the defendant, his testimony, his credibility, and any inconsistencies that have been made over the course of this case with regard to drug use, alcohol use, and the mixing thereof.

(R. 119:6.)

Admittedly, it is not entirely clear to what the "numerous self-reports" refers. However, that single clause had no bearing on the postconviction court's finding of no amnesia, so it cannot render that finding clearly erroneous. The postconviction court found that Rosalez failed to prove his amnesia due to his lack of medical evidence and lack of credibility. Even if the postconviction court believed in numerous self-reports not supported by the record, that belief did not remedy Rosalez's lack of medical evidence or undermine the basis of the court's credibility determination.

⁴ The postconviction court could be referring to the blackouts that Rosalez claimed to have suffered when he began taking Ambien several years before the sexual assault in this case. (R. 62:5.) Rosalez told the psychologist that, following these initial blackouts, he "had not experienced any blackouts or lapses in memory for many years." (R. 62:5.) The postconviction court could have been referring to these "self-reported" blackouts at the beginning of Rosalez's Ambien prescription that did not prove to be a "permanent condition."

Case 2022AP001929 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-02-2023 Page 20 of 29

At times Rosalez suggests that, when he entered his plea, the parties agreed that he had amnesia—although he does not actually argue that his amnesia was undisputed. (Rosalez's Br. 13, 14.) This suggestion arises from Rosalez's erroneous belief that the State's lack of opposition to him pleading no contest amounted to an admission that he has amnesia. The State did not admit that Rosalez has amnesia. The State carefully explained that it agreed to a no contest plea "if what the defense is proposing that he doesn't actually remember." (R. 36:3–4 (emphasis added).) The State assumed, without admitting, that Rosalez truthfully represented his lack of memory. That assumption adopted for the purpose of pleading did not amount to a concession that Rosalez's amnesia was a medical fact established by clear and convincing evidence.

At the close of his argument on this issue, Rosalez improperly flips the burden of proof by claiming that the absence of evidence contradicting his claim of amnesia establishes his amnesia as fact. (Rosalez's Br. 15–16.) However, he bore the burden of proving his amnesia by clear and convincing evidence. *See Muench*, 60 Wis. 2d at 392–93. The State's decision not to present an affirmative case in rebuttal did not constitute a concession. Like in *Muench*, the postconviction court was free to conclude that Rosalez's evidence was insufficient. *See id.* at 393.

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